RECEIVED

Oct 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000056

Sterling Hills Homeowners Association,Respondent,

v.

Elliot Hayes,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
drew@harrisonfirm.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the lower court err reversibly in referring this case to the master-in-equity?**
- II. Did the lower court err reversibly in dismissing Appellant's breach of contract counterclaim?**
- III. Did the lower court err reversibly in in dismissing Appellant's Unfair Trade Practices counterclaim?**
- IV. Did the lower court err reversibly in dismissing Appellant's breach of contract and Unfair Trade Practices counterclaim without allowing Appellant an opportunity to amend?**
- V. Did the lower court err reversibly in granting summary judgment against Appellant on his *ultra vires* declaratory judgment counterclaim?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent, Sterling Hills Homeowners' Association, Inc. (hereinafter "the HOA"), sued the Appellant, Elliot Hayes (hereinafter "Hayes"), alleging that Hayes, a member of the HOA by virtue of his ownership of a house within the subdivision associated with the HOA, had violated and was continuing to violate provisions of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements, Charges and Liens for Sterling Hills (hereinafter "the covenants"). (R. pp. 17-25.) The HOA pled causes of action 1) for breach of contract, seeking damages, 2) seeking enforcement of the covenants in equity "[t]o the extent there is no adequate remedy at law," 3) for specific performance, 4) for injunctive relief, and 5) seeking a declaratory judgment that the HOA has the right under the covenants to perform maintenance on Hayes' property and charge him the cost of that maintenance as an assessment on his lot. (R. pp. 22-24.) The HOA later amended its complaint, pleading the same causes of action but adding allegations to the effect that Hayes was allowing someone to live on his porch and urinate and defecate outside at his house. (R. pp. 14-16, 40-48.) In both its original and amended complaints, the HOA specifically stated in its prayer that was seeking "actual and consequential damages[.]" (R. pp. 24, 47.) In response to both the original and amended complaints, Hayes answered and counterclaimed, demanding a jury trial. (R. pp. 26-33, 49-58, 64.) In response to the amended complaint, Hayes denied the HOA's material allegations and asserted affirmative defenses that the HOA's attempt to enforce unrecorded by-laws and rules was barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 27-30-130, unclean hands, the HOA's own breach of the covenants, and that the HOA's actions were *ultra vires*. (R. pp. 54-55.) Hayes pled counterclaims for breach of contract, for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.* (hereinafter "the Unfair Trade Practices Act"), for a

declaratory judgment that the HOA's acts were *ultra vires*, and for an order directing the HOA to allow Hayes access to its books and records. (R. pp. 55-57.)

Hayes moved for summary judgment on the HOA's claims on the grounds that the covenant and bylaws provisions on which the HOA based its claims were so vague as to be unenforceable, as well as that the HOA was seeking to enforce rules or regulations that were not recorded in the register of deeds' office and were thus unenforceable under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-30-130. (R. pp. 65-116.) The HOA moved to dismiss Hayes' counterclaims and to refer the action to the master-in-equity. (R. pp. 117-18). The HOA later moved for summary judgment on Hayes' counterclaims. (R. pp. 119-26.) Both parties filed affidavits and other factual materials. (R. pp. 173-236).

The Honorable Thomas A. Russo heard all three motions. (R. pp. 137-72.) He denied Hayes' motion for summary judgment¹ and granted the HOA's motions to dismiss and for summary judgment. (R. pp. 1-10.) He also referred the case to the master-in-equity. (R. pp. 1-10.)

Hayes moved to reconsider. (R. pp. 127-36.) Judge Russo denied that motion without a hearing. (R. pp. 11-13.)

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The HOA is in unlawful shambles. Its so-called board of directors is composed of unelected purported appointees to the board appointed by past directors or ostensible directors,

¹ Hayes was entitled to summary judgment. Since it is settled law, however, that the denial of summary judgment is not appealable at all, Hayes does not appeal the denial of his summary judgment motion. Olson v. Faculty House of Carolina, Inc., 354 S.C. 161, 580 S.E.2d 440 (2003).

as it has not held director elections since 2002. (R. pp. 173-77.) These are *not* holdover directors, as the HOA argued and the lower court found. Indeed, it is impossible for the board to be composed of the same people who were the last elected directors, as affidavit testimony from one of the ostensible directors shows. As Ella Calvert's affidavit indicates, the HOA does *something* other than an election that it contends vests people with director status, since she gave affidavit testimony that she became a director of the HOA in 2015, some 13 years after the HOA last held director elections. (R. pp. 173-77.)

The HOA routinely attempts to force its members to comply with "rules" that do not exist, such as the demand it seeks to enforce in this case that Hayes paint his garage door white or that Hayes keep his garbage cans so that they are not visible from the street. (R. pp. 40-48, 193-236.) As it is doing in this case, it relies on vague and subjective wording in the covenants to make vague and subjective demands of its members to do or not do things with their property, then takes action against them based on its purported board's subjective determination of whether its members have met its vague demands. (R. pp. 26-33, 193-236.) The HOA has accused Hayes of doing things that it has no evidence that he has done, such as letting someone live on his porch and urinate and defecate outside his house. (R. pp. 26-33, 176-99, 226-36.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Order of reference and right to a jury trial. "Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law." Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010). "An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the [lower] court." Id. at 15.

The right to a jury trial is a substantial right, and any contended waiver of the right to trial by jury is strictly construed. Broome v. Watts, 319 S.C. 337, 340, 461 S.E.2d 46 (1995); North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 535, 416 S.E.2d 637 (1992); Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863 (Ct. App. 2002).

Motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. “In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007) (citation omitted). The ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action must be based solely upon the allegations set forth in the pleading. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). “In evaluating a motion to dismiss pursuant to this rule, the circuit court must view the facts alleged in the complaint and any reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.” Benedict Coll. v. Natl. Credit Systems, Inc., 400 S.C. 538, 544, 735 S.E.2d 518, 521 (Ct. App. 2012). “The motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. The question is whether in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in her behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Dye v. Gainey, 320 S.C. 65, 67-68, 463 S.E.2d 97, 98-99 (Ct. App. 1995). “If those facts and inferences would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then a dismissal for failure to state a claim is improper.” Benedict Coll., 400 S.C. at 544. Counterclaims are treated no differently from complaints in this regard. Charleston County School Dist. v. Laidlaw Transit Inc., 348 S.C. 420, 424, 559 S.E.2d 362 (Ct. App. 2001). The claim should not be dismissed even if the court doubts the claimant will prevail in

the action. Dye, 320 S.C. at 67-68. The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the party asserting the counterclaim, and with every doubt resolved in his favor, the counterclaim states any valid claim for relief. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987).

“[T]he circuit court may not dismiss a claim with prejudice unless the plaintiff is given a meaningful chance to amend the complaint, and after considering the amended pleading, the court is certain there is no set of facts upon which relief can be granted.” Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry Cnty., 426 S.C. 175, 189, 826 S.E.2d 585, 592 (2019). This principle, too, applies to counterclaims. See Charleston County School Dist., 348 S.C. at 424,

Summary judgment. When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that:

summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.

Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing Spencer v. Miller, 259 S.C. 453, 192 S.E.2d 863 (1972)).

“All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Bayle v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 120, 542 S.E.2d 736, 738 (Ct. App. 2001); Hall v. Fedor, 349 S.C. 169,

173-74, 561 S.E.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App. 2002)) (internal citations omitted). If “the parties vehemently dispute the inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts, . . . that simply establishes that summary judgment is not appropriate[.]” Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (2008) (citing Wilson v. Style Crest Products, Inc., 367 S.C. 653, 656, 627 S.E.2d 733, 735 (2006)).

When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.

Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008) (citing David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006); Rule 56(c), SCRPC) (internal citations omitted).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-03 (2009). In Hancock, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Id. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. More than a scintilla is required only in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law. Id. at 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

ARGUMENT

I. Hayes has the right to a jury trial in this action, and the circuit court erred in referring it to the master-in-equity.

As Hayes noted at the motions hearing, not only did he plead at-law counterclaims in this action, the HOA's first cause of action asserted against him is an at-law claim that seeks damages for breach of contract. (R. pp. 45, 48, 169 ln. 15-18.)² Hayes properly demanded a jury trial on this breach of contract claim and his at-law counterclaims, first in his answer and counterclaim to the original complaint and then in a separate jury demand made within the time limit of Rule 38(b), SCRPC. (R. pp. 26, 49-64.) Well-established law provides that, even if this court were to affirm the dismissal and summary judgment rulings on Hayes' counterclaims, Hayes has the right to a jury trial in this action.

a. The HOA has sued Hayes on a breach of contract claim that seeks damages. That is an at-law claim.

Without explanation or analysis, the circuit court ruled "that Plaintiff's claims resound [sic] in equity." (R. p. 9.) The HOA's claims do not all sound in equity, however, as the HOA pled an at-law claim against Hayes, which it styled as "breach of covenants" and through which it seeks a judgment for "actual and consequential damages[.]" (R. pp. 45, 47.)

Under the South Carolina Constitution, "[t]he right of trial by jury is preserved inviolate." S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. "The right of trial by jury as declared by the Constitution

² The transcript in this case is riddled with errors. The transcript reads as though Hayes' counsel said, "Speaking to that briefly, not only have we pled couple legal expository counterclaims. Well, the plaintiffs were – their first off reaction is for Breach of Contract. And they plead that there weren't damages." (R. p. 169 ln. 15-18.) What Hayes' counsel actually said was, "Speaking to that briefly, not only have we pled a couple of legal compulsory counterclaims, well, the plaintiffs were – their first cause of action is for breach of contract, and they plead that they want damages." (R. p. 169 ln. 15-18.)

or as given by a statute of South Carolina shall be preserved to the parties inviolate. Issues of fact in an action for the recovery of money only or of specific real or personal property must be tried by a jury, unless a jury trial be waived.” Rule 38(a), SCRPC. “This guarantee preserves the right to a jury trial in those cases where jury trials were allowed at the time of the adoption of the Constitution in 1868.” Cooper v. Poston, 326 S.C. 46, 48, 483 S.E.2d 750 (1997).

In 1712, before American independence and before the adoption of South Carolina’s first constitution, the colony of South Carolina enacted a statute that adopted, among other things, English common law as the law of South Carolina. Harold Simmons Tate, Jr., South Carolina’s Reception of English Law iii (Univ. S.C. 2008). This reception statute, as it is known, is codified now at S.C. Code Ann. § 14-1-50. “The reception statute of South Carolina is unique in that no other North American colony adopted a statute so comprehensive so early in its history.” Tate, supra at iii.

This reception of English law included the right to trial by jury in suits seeking a money judgment. See Cooper, 326 S.C. at 48. The right to trial by jury in suits of this sort between private entities had been recognized in the Magna Carta as a definitive right of Englishmen about 500 years before the enactment of the reception statute. Tate, supra at 159. The right to trial by jury in a suit for breach of a contract was definitively a part of South Carolina law in 1712.

With the American Revolution came South Carolina’s first constitution, in 1776. South Carolina has had six constitutions – those of 1776, 1778, 1790, 1865, 1868, and 1895. Each of these constitutions preserved existing law, including the right to trial by jury as it existed before the constitution’s adoption. Tate, supra at 232 (citing Art. V, § 3 of S.C. Const. of

1868). Each overhaul of the South Carolina Constitution simply incorporated *en masse* the body of law about entitlement to a jury trial in a civil suit that existed under the previous constitution. The English law adopted in 1712, including that of the right to trial by jury, has thus been carried forward with each of our constitutions. As observed by our Supreme Court in 1919 – under the present, 1895 constitution – the common law of England is the law of South Carolina. State v. Charleston Bridge Co., 113 S.C. 115, 125, 101 S.E. 657 (1919).

Under the common law, a claim seeking damages for breach of a contract carries with it the right of either party to trial by jury. Cooper, 326 S.C. at 48. Restrictive covenants are contracts. Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1987); Kinard v. Richardson, 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888, 893 (Ct. App. 2014); Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Property Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 628 S.E.2d 902, 913 (Ct. App. 2006); Houck v. Rivers, 316 S.C. 414, 418, 450 S.E.2d 106, 109 (Ct. App. 1994). A claim that a party has violated a restrictive covenant is a claim that the party has breached the contract embodied in the covenants. See Kinard, 754 S.E.2d at 893; Queen’s Grant, 628 S.E.2d at 913.

Under the South Carolina Constitution, the HOA’s claim seeking damages for breach of contract is one on which both the HOA and Hayes have the right to a jury trial. This claim, which seeks a money damages judgment for breach of contract (R. pp. 45, 47), is an action at law. E.g., Mathis v. Brown & Brown of S.C., Inc., 389 S.C. 299, 307, 698 S.E.2d 773, 777 (2010) (action for breach of contract is at law); First Citizens Bank & Trust Co. of S.C. v. Hucks, 305 S.C. 296, 408 S.E.2d 222, 223 (1991) (same); Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins, 386 S.C. 43, 47, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (Ct. App. 2009) (action seeking damages for breach of contract is action at law). “Under the common law, legal actions for the recovery of money”

– like HOA’s damages claim for breach of contract – “were triable by a jury.” Cooper, 326 S.C. at 48.

This is significant. In light of Hayes’ jury demand, it was reversible, prejudicial error for the circuit court to refer this case to a master-in-equity. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 14; S.C. Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC, 420 S.C. 89, 800 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 2017) (reference to master-in-equity never should have been made where jury trial properly demanded on at-law causes of action).

b. Hayes pled at-law counterclaims and has the right to trial by jury on them.

The HOA’s damages claim for breach of contract is also significant because it disposes of the need to determine whether Hayes’ at-law counterclaims for breach of contract and violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act are compulsory or permissive. This court need not make that determination to find that Hayes has the right to trial by jury on these counterclaims. Where the plaintiff pleads an at-law claim, the defendant is entitled to a jury trial on that claim and on any legal counterclaims he may assert, even if they are permissive. Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 330, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014); Johnson v. S.C. Nat. Bank, 292 S.C. 51, 54-56, 354 S.E.2d 895 (1987). Even if the court determines that the main purpose of the HOA’s complaint is to seek equitable relief, Hayes still has the right to a jury trial, since an action’s “main purpose” does not trump the requirement “that in instances where legal and equitable issues or rights are asserted in the same complaint, the legal issues are for determination by a jury and the equitable issues are to be decided by the court.” Floyd v. Floyd, 306 S.C. 378, 380, 412 S.E.2d 397, 399 (1991).

Hayes pled at-law counterclaims, and, should this court correctly reverse and remand those claims for trial, Hayes is entitled to a jury trial on them, regardless of whether they are

permissive or compulsory. S.C. Const. art. I, § 14; Blackburn, 407 S.C. at 330; Cooper, 326 S.C. at 48; Johnson, 292 S.C. at 54-56.

As discussed above, a breach of contract claim seeking damages, as Hayes' claim does (R. pp. 55, 57), is an at-law claim. E.g., Mathis, 389 S.C. at 307; Hucks, 408 S.E.2d at 223; Branche Builders, 386 S.C. at 47. A claim under the Unfair Trade Practices Act seeking damages, as Hayes' claim does (R. pp. 56-57), is also an at-law claim. Salon Proz, 420 S.C. at 97; Payne v. Holiday Towers, Inc., 283 S.C. 210, 215, 321 S.E.2d 179, 182 (S.C. App. 1984). Hayes demanded a jury trial on them. (R. pp. 49, 64.) He is entitled to a jury trial on them. S.C. Const. art. I, § 14; Blackburn, 407 S.C. at 330; Cooper, 326 S.C. at 48; Johnson, 292 S.C. at 54-56. It was reversible, prejudicial error for the circuit court to refer this case to the master-in-equity. See Salon Proz, 420 S.C. at 95, 97.

II. Hayes pled facts sufficient to constitute causes of action for breach of contract and under the Unfair Trade Practices Act, and the circuit court erred in dismissing those causes of action.

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