**RECEIVED**

**Nov 08 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000056

Sterling Hills Homeowners'  
Association, Inc.

Respondent,

v.

Elliot Hayes,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Christian Saville, SC Bar No. 103272  
McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, PC  
Post Office Box 212069  
Columbia, SC 29221  
Phone: 803-724-5000  
Fax: 803-724-5001  
Email: [christian.saville@mccabetrotter.com](mailto:christian.saville@mccabetrotter.com)  
**Attorney for Respondent**

**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. The circuit court properly referred this case to the Master-in-Equity as Respondent’s claims are equitable, and Appellant’s legal counterclaims have been properly dismissed.**

The circuit court properly referred this case to the master in equity. Pursuant to Rule 53(b), SCRCP, the circuit court may, upon motion of a party, direct a reference of some or all of the causes of action in a case to a master in equity. Appellant argues that the circuit court erred in referring this case, claiming that Respondent raised legal claims against Appellant, providing a right to a jury trial, and that the now-dismissed counterclaims raised by Appellant were also legal in nature. On the contrary, Respondent’s entire action against Appellant is *equitable*, not legal, as properly determined by the circuit court. Moreover, *arguendo*, even if Appellant’s at-law counterclaims had not been dismissed, Appellant’s counterclaims would not preclude the referral to the master in equity as they were not compulsory counterclaims to begin with.

**A. Respondent’s claims are equitable, and Appellant is therefore not entitled to a jury trial.**

The circuit court properly referred this case to the Master in Equity. In light of the proper

dismissal of Appellant's frivolous legal counterclaims by the circuit court, the only remaining causes of action in this matter are equitable. (R. pp. 1 - 10). It is well settled in South Carolina that there is no right to trial by jury for equitable actions. *Lester*, 327 S.C. at 267, 491 S.E.2d at 242. Appellant argues that the circuit court erred in referring this case based on assertions that Respondent has raised legal claims. To the contrary, as counsel for Respondent made clear at the motions hearing and in memoranda submitted to the circuit court, Respondent merely brings equitable claims to enforce the covenants against the Subject Property. (R. pp. 167-168, 237 - 247).

Respondent's Amended Complaint enumerated causes of action for "Breach of Covenants," "Enforcement of Restrictive Covenants," "Specific Performance," "Injunctive Relief," and "Declaratory Judgment." (R. p. 40 - 48). Whether an action is legal or equitable is primarily determined by the allegations in the Complaint. *Bateman*, 358 S.C. at 673; 596 S.E.2d at 389. In the present case, all of the claims enumerated in Respondent's Amended Complaint resound in equity. Appellant's repeated assertion that Respondent has brought a legal claim for "Breach of Contract" is demonstrably false and not supported in the pleadings and/or record. Regardless, each and every claim raised in the Amended Complaint merely requests the court to apply and enforce the restrictive covenants of Sterling Hills. An action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity. *Gibbs v. Kimbrell*, 311 S.C. 261, 267, 428 S.E.2d 725, 729 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Holling v. Margiotta*, 231 S.C. 676, 679, 100 S.E.2d 397, 398 (1957)). "Specific performance should be granted only if there is no adequate remedy at law and specific enforcement of the contract is equitable between the parties." *Ingram v. Kasey's Associates*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2000) (citing *King v. Oxford*, 282 S.C. 307, 318 S.E.2d 125 (Ct. App. 1984)).

Clearly, as the circuit court properly found, Respondent's claims were equitable, not legal. The sentence in Respondent's Amended Complaint in its prayer for relief which requests "actual and consequential damages" does not itself convert the action to a legal action. "A request for monetary relief should not be viewed in isolation to convert what is otherwise an equitable claim to a legal claim." *Thomerson v. DeVito*, 430 S.C. 246, 259, 844 S.E.2d 378, 385 (2020) (citing *Watson v. Pub. Serv. Co. of Colo.*, 207 P.3d 860, 865-66 (Colo. App. 2008) ("Even though a plaintiff seeks to recover money damages, the plaintiff is not entitled to a jury trial if the essence of the action is equitable in nature.")). The clear essence of this case is equitable, simply put, the application and enforcement of restrictive covenants as to Appellant's Subject Property. Respondent has made it clear it merely seeks the equitable relief of enforcement of the covenants. (R. pp. 47, 167-168, 237 - 247).

Therefore, in light of the circuit court's proper dismissal of Appellant's counterclaims, there remains only the equitable action brought by Respondent in which Appellant has no right to a jury trial. Accordingly, the circuit judge did not err in referring this matter to the Master in Equity upon Respondent's motion, and the circuit court's ruling should be affirmed.

**B. Even if Appellant's legal counterclaims had not been dismissed, the referral to the mast in equity would still be appropriate because the counterclaims were not compulsory.**

As noted above, each of Appellant's counterclaims were properly dismissed by the circuit court, leaving only Respondent's equitable claims remaining. Nevertheless, even if the counterclaims had not been dismissed, the counterclaims would not have precluded a referral to the Master in Equity as Appellant's counterclaims were not compulsory. "A party does not waive its right to a jury trial on a counterclaim asserted in an equity action if the counterclaim is legal and compulsory in nature." *North Carolina Federal Sav. And Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C.

514, 517, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989) (emphasis added) (citing *Johnson v. South Carolina National Bank*, 292 S.C. 51, 354 S.E.2d 895 (1987)).

By definition, a counterclaim is compulsory only if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party's claim. *Id.* at 517 (citing Rule 13(a), SCRPC). Appellant's at-law counterclaims, which were properly dismissed, for Breach of Contract and violate on of the Unfair Trade Practices Act in no way originated from the same transactions or occurrences as Respondent's claims. Therefore, Appellant's counterclaims would merely be permissive. Respondent brought claims to enforce the covenants of Sterling Hills concerning the lack of upkeep and maintenance by Appellant of his Lot, which has remained in an unkempt and unsightly condition. Appellant's allegations under the Unfair Trade Practices Act pertain to alleged improprieties regarding fines, assessments, and actions "against members or purported members of Plaintiff." It is abundantly clear on the face of the pleading that this counterclaim did not arise from the same transaction or occurrence which led Respondent to bring suit to compel the upkeep of Appellant's unkempt property. Moreover, while it is unclear how Appellant alleges Respondent breached a contract, which is why the counterclaim was dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), but it is not conceivable that such a Breach of Contract claim arises from the equitable claims brought by Respondent to enforce the restrictive covenants of Sterling Hills. Again, Appellant's counterclaims were properly dismissed regardless, but it is clear they would not have precluded the referral to the Master in Equity had they survived.

As Counsel for Respondent explained at the motions hearing on October 14, 2019, the present case is merely an equitable action involving claims raised by the homeowners' association for the purpose of enforcing the restrictive covenants applicable to the Subject Property. (R. pp. 167-168, 237-247). At the motions hearing, Counsel for Appellant requested

that if the case was to be referred, that it not be referred to the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, arguing he felt Judge Strickland would recuse himself from the case because Appellant's prior appearances before Judge Strickland "got heated." (R. pp. 128, 170). Respondent again submits such a decision would best be left to the sound discretion of Judge Strickland himself. For all the reasons set forth above, the circuit court properly referred this case to the Master in Equity, and its decision should not be disturbed.

**II. The circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's counterclaims for Breach of Contract and violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act.**

Appellant argues the circuit court erred in dismissing his counterclaims for Breach of Contract and violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. However, Appellant's pleadings failed to identify a contract or breach thereof, and Respondent is not under the purview of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, a trial judge in the civil setting may dismiss a claim when it is demonstrated that the pleading party has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action in the pleadings filed with the court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). Generally, in considering a 12(b)(6) motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. *Doe v. Marion*, 361 S.C. 463, 469, 605 S.E.2d 556, 559 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995)). Accordingly, the circuit court acted properly in dismissing the counterclaims for Breach of Contract and violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP.

**A. The circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's counterclaim for breach of contract as Appellant failed to plead or identify a breach, which is an indispensable element of breach of contract.**

The elements of a cause of action for Breach of Contract are (1) the existence of the

contract, (2) its breach, and (3) damages caused by such breach. *Southern Glass & Plastics Co., Inc. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 491-492, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *Fuller v. E. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962)). As the circuit court correctly held, Appellant failed to allege any facts sufficient to identify a breach of a contract. (Order; R. p. 2 - 3). Appellant's counterclaim pleading effectively recites the elements of a breach of contract cause of action while alleging with no specificity as to what constituted a breach of the contract. Appellant argues that the obligation enumerated in *Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 1964-1965 (2007), to provide more than mere labels and conclusions rather than a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action, is inapplicable in South Carolina. Respondent submits that *Twombly's* provision is applicable and instructive to the present case, but regardless, it is well settled that a motion to dismiss must be based solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the pleading. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602 (1995) (citing *State Board of Medical Examiners v. Fenwick Hall, Inc.*, 300 S.C. 274, 387 S.E.2d 458 (1990)). The face of Appellant's Answer & Counterclaim fails to identify or allege any specific breach of a contract, an indispensable element of a Breach of Contract action.

Appellant's reliance on *Watts v. Metro Security Agency*, 346 S.C. 235, 550 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 2001) and Rule 8, SCRCF, is misplaced. While Rule 8, SCRCF does mandate that a pleading contain "ultimate facts" rather than "evidentiary facts" to state a cause of action, this does not absolve Appellant of their obligations under Rule 12, SCRCF to plead facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Moreover, even Appellant's cited *Watts* opinion provides that "ultimate facts fall somewhere between the verbosity of 'evidentiary facts' and the sparsity of 'legal conclusions.'" *Watts*, 346 S.C. at 240, 550 S.E.2d at 871. Appellant's pleading for "Breach

of Contract” resounds in the realm of sparse legal conclusions. Respondent is left to only wonder what contract was breached, how it was breached, and what damages could have conceivably resulted, and is therefore not on sufficient notice to defend against this sparse legal conclusion. Accordingly, the circuit court properly dismissed the claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.

**B. The circuit court properly dismissed Appellant’s counterclaim for violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act, as the Unfair Trade Practices Act as the Unfair Trade Practices Act is not applicable to Respondent.**

Appellant argues the circuit court erred in dismissing the counterclaim for violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. However, the Unfair Trade Practices Act is inapplicable to Respondent and this action, and accordingly, Appellant has not and cannot state a claim for violation of said Act against Respondent. Pursuant to the Unfair Trade Practices Act, “[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any *trade or commerce*” are unlawful. S.C. Code § 39-5-20 (emphasis added). The Act defines “trade or commerce” as “the advertising, offering for sale, sale or distribution of any services and any property, tangible or intangible, real, personal or mixed, and any other article, commodity or thing of value wherever situate, and shall include any trade or commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of this State.” S.C. Code § 39-5-10.

As the circuit court correctly observed, Respondent, a nonprofit corporation, is a homeowners’ association and not an entity engaged in trade or commerce as defined by the Unfair Trade Practices Act. (R. p. 3 - 4). Respondent’s actions enumerated in Appellant’s pleadings are merely actions in furtherance of enforcing the restrictive covenants; simply put, enforcement of restrictive covenants is not “trade or commerce.”

Appellant’s reliance on *Baker v. Chavis*, 306 S.C. 203, 410 S.E.2d 600 (Ct. App. 1991) to argue that the Unfair Trade Practices Act should apply to homeowners’ associations and

Respondent is misplaced. This Court in *Baker* did note that the language of the Act suggests the legislature did not intend to limit “trade” and “commerce” to only the listed transactions. *Id.* at 208-209. However, *Baker* was readily distinguishable from the present case, and addressed conduct drastically different from that of a homeowners’ association. In *Baker*, this Court was analyzing the Act within the context of a for-profit time-share, and merely held that the term “trade” was broad enough to encompass the buying and selling of leases in a time-share. Applying “trade or commerce” even more broadly than *Baker*, the enforcement of restrictive covenants by a nonprofit corporation homeowners’ association would still not constitute trade or commerce.

Moreover, while Respondent is not involved in conduct of any trade or commerce, even assuming *arguendo* that some functions of Respondent such as maintaining common elements constitute “trade or commerce,” this would be irrelevant because the Act only applies if the specifically alleged unfair or deceptive acts were in the conduct of the actual “trade or commerce.” In *Foggie v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 98, 104, 431 S.E.2d 587, 591 (1993), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a railroad company’s removal and subsequent refusal to reinstall a railroad crossing was not the conduct of trade or commerce. Of course, a railroad company would certainly be engaged in “trade or commerce” in some of its other actions, but not in the conduct at issue. Likewise, even if Respondent theoretically engaged in “trade or commerce” at some point, Appellant has not enumerated any party or act in this action which is under the purview of the Unfair Trade Practices Act.

Appellant alleges the circuit court erred by relying on this Court’s unpublished opinion from *Brown v. Spring Valley Homeowners Association, Inc.*, App. Case No. 2014-002587, Unpublished Opinion No. 2016-UP-343 (Ct. App. 2016), where this Court upheld a grant of

summary judgment dismissing an Unfair Trade Practices Claim against a homeowners' association and cited the definition of "trade" and "commerce." Respondent did bring this unpublished opinion to the circuit court's attention, but expressly provided that this was indeed an unpublished opinion. Regardless, the circuit court's Order indicates the circuit court independently found Respondent was not an entity engaged in trade or commerce as defined by the Unfair Trade Practices Act. (R. pp. 3 - 4). Clearly, the circuit court did not need to rely on the unpublished opinion from a case in which Appellant's Counsel had previously unsuccessfully raised the same argument, as it is independently clear that the Act is inapplicable to Respondent in this matter. For all these reasons, this Court should affirm the circuit court's proper dismissal of this counterclaim.

**C. Appellant should not be allowed to amend in an effort to "cure" the deficiency of Appellant's pleadings, and regardless, amendment would be futile and not alter the analysis under which the claims were dismissed.**

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